**RECEIVED**

**Jun 06 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable J. Cordell Maddox, Jr.

Case No. 2022-CP-37-00396  
Appellate Case No. 2022-001796

---

John's Marine Service, Inc., Frances J. Ratliff, Edward J. Ratliff, Jr., James L. Ratliff,  
Lucretia B. Morgan, Sherri Akers Crisp, and Amy Cawthon,

Appellants,

v.

Oconee County Board of Zoning Appeals, Ridgewater Engineering & Surveying, LLC, Globe, a  
South Carolina Limited Partnership, and Farnes, a South Carolina Limited Partnership,

Respondents.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

---

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. In approving a road variance request, the Oconee County Board of Zoning Appeals (“BOZA”) adjudicated a predicate factual and legal dispute concerning whether Oconee County holds a prescriptive easement over a privately owned section of Ellenburg Road. Was this adjudication outside of the BOZA’s limited statutory jurisdiction?
- II. A prescriptive easement must be proven by clear and convincing evidence. The BOZA approved a variance request based on an assumption that Oconee County holds a prescriptive easement over Ellenburg Road. Was it error for the BOZA to assume the existence of a prescriptive easement rather than require proof of each element by clear and convincing evidence?
- III. The BOZA determined that Oconee County holds a prescriptive maintenance easement over Appellants’ privately owned dead-end road. From this maintenance-easement, the BOZA then granted a road variance request for an eventual nineteen-home subdivision with an estimated 200 vehicle trips per day across this previous dead-end road. Was it error for the BOZA to unilaterally increase the easement burden on Appellants’ private road?
- IV. Appellants presented drawings to the BOZA showing that Respondent’s proposed roadway was nine feet too narrow and that it would either have to be built on Appellants’ property or on top of fill poured into Lake Keowee. The BOZA refused to analyze the detrimental impact if the roadway is built on Appellants’ property. Was this decision arbitrary, capricious, and an abuse of discretion?

## **INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is an appeal from an Oconee County Board of Zoning Appeals' ("BOZA") order, (hereinafter, "Variance Order"), granting road variance application #VA21-011 (hereinafter, the "Variance Application") for the eventual construction of a new public road to service a proposed nineteen-home subdivision on Lake Keowee. This new public road would tie directly into Appellants' (hereinafter, the "Ratliff Family") private driveway and turn it into a public road. The Ratliff Family and adjacent owners own the private driveway, and James Ratliff owns and operates John's Marine at the dead end of Ellenburg Road—the location of the proposed new public road. The Ratliff Family objects to Oconee County turning their private driveway into a public road for nineteen new homes.

Ridgewater Engineering & Surveying, LLC ("Ridgewater") applied for a road width variance for the construction of a new public road to service a future nineteen-home subdivision on Lake Keowee. Oconee County ordinances require public roads to have 50-foot or right-of-way and the arrowhead shaped property to be developed has a narrow section of approximately 31.9' adjacent to the Ratliff Family's property. Ridgewater requested a variance for the public road to be 18.1' narrower at this location. Based on the size of the proposed subdivision, the developer must tie in its new road directly into the public road system. Ridgewater contended that this requirement was met because Oconee County has a prescriptive easement for maintenance for the entire length of Ellenburg Road that could be extended to the new proposed road. However, the Ratliff family informed the BOZA that their family paved the section of Ellenburg Road in front of their properties in the 1980s and have continuously maintained it ever since, and that Oconee County has never maintained this section of Ellenburg Road. The BOZA met three times on this variance—the first two times delaying a vote for additional information on the existence of a prescriptive easement. The Ratliff Family presented information and documents to BOZA

reflecting their ownership and maintenance of the road. Oconee County presented no documents or testimony of ever having performed maintenance on this section of Ellenburg Road and only relied on “institutional memory.” At the third meeting on the variance, the BOZA voted to approve the variance over the Ratliff Family’s objection and despite the lack of evidence of a prescriptive easement. This appeal followed.

The central issue in this appeal is whether Oconee County has a prescriptive easement over a paved section of Ellenburg Road that is privately owned by the Ratliff Family and the adjacent property owners/Respondents—Globe, a South Carolina Limited Partnership, (“Globe”), and Farmes, a South Carolina Limited Partnership, (“Farmes”). The paved private driveway is partially on the Ratliff Family’s property (585 Ellenburg Road and 599 Ellenburg Road) and partially on property owned by Globe and Farmes, with the majority of the paving on the Ratliff Family’s property (hereinafter, the “Private Driveway”). The Ratliff Family and their predecessors in interest paved the Private Driveway in the 1980’s and have maintained it ever since.



**Board of Zoning Appeals Hearings**

On April 25, 2022, the BOZA granted Ridgewater’s Variance Application for a variance of 18.1’ from the 50’ right-of-way required for construction of a new public road. Ridgewater sought the variance as an agent for Globe and Farnes. The new public road would service a currently undeveloped 15-acre arrowhead-shaped peninsula on Lake Keowee referred to as

“Arrowhead Point.” The “stem” section of this tract is adjacent to 585 Ellenburg and 599 Ellenburg and the “body” is to the northeast and juts out into Lake Keowee. The new public road would connect an eventual nineteen-home subdivision to the existing paved private section of Ellenburg Road that dead ends at John’s Marine. The Variance Application initially came before the BOZA on November 30, 2021, then again on January 24, 2022, and finally for a vote on April 25, 2022.

**November 30, 2021 BOZA Meeting**

On November 30, 2021, the Variance Application was first placed on the BOZA agenda. During this first meeting, the BOZA heard from representatives from Lake Keowee Real Estate, the developer of Arrowhead Point, about the requested variance and the proposed plans to construct a new public road to service an eventual nineteen-home subdivision on the 15-acre peninsula past John’s Marine. (R. p. 639, line 18-p. 640, line 5; p.754, line 20-p. 755, line 1). The developer asserted that Oconee County has a prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway in front of the Ratliff Family’s properties up to the point where the pavement and road dead ends, which is where proposed new public road would be placed. (R. p. 642, lines 7-13; p. 746, line 24-p.747, line 4).

During public comments, the Ratliff Family informed the BOZA that they disputed that Oconee County holds a prescriptive easement over their Private Driveway. (R. p. 660, line 22-p. 661, line 5; p. 663, line 9-p. 664, line 22). The Ratliff Family brought to BOZA’s attention the fact that: (1) their family members, or predecessors in interest, had paved and maintained the Private Driveway for the last forty years, (R. p. 678, line 25-p. 680, line 3; p. 684, line 21-p. 685, line 11); and (2) Ellenburg Road itself reflected the difference between County and non-County maintained travel surfaces where the pavement quality differs and where the County stopped its

centerline yellow road striping at the location where the Private Driveway begins, (R. p. 663, line 9-p. 664, line 5; p. 679, lines 4-9; *see also* R. pp. 138-144 (images of the road striping)).

The Ratliff Family also raised concerns about (1) BOZA's jurisdiction to grant a variance affecting two private parties, (R. p. 688, line 22-p. 689, line 9); (2) the legality of moving forward to consider the Variance Application without first showing that Oconee County had a prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway, (R. p. 664, lines 5-22); and (3) the legality of Oconee County unilaterally changing the easement burden on the Ratliff Family's properties, assuming Oconee County held a prescriptive easement, (R. p. 664, line 22-p. 666, line 25).

BOZA recognized that if Oconee County did not maintain the Private Driveway, then BOZA would not have the authority to grant the Variance Application. (R. p. 689, lines 15-22). After closing public comments, members of the BOZA noted: (1) the predicate question to considering the Variance Application is whether the BOZA has authority over the Private Driveway by virtue of a prescriptive easement, (R. p. 766, line 19-p. 767, line 14); (2) traffic and safety with the continuing operation of John's Marine needed to be resolved, (R. p. 768, lines 15-20, p. 771, lines 7-14; p. 772, lines 13-24; p. 773, lines 11-21; p. 774, lines 22-24); and (3) John's Marine uses the entirety of the Private Driveway to conduct its business, (R. p. 771, line 19-p. 772, line 11). Ultimately, BOZA voted to table the Variance Application pending a resolution of whether Oconee County holds a prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway. (R. p. 777, line 20-p. 778, line 15; p. 781, lines 6-11).

#### **January 24, 2022 BOZA Meeting**

On January 24, 2022, the Variance Application was again on the BOZA agenda. The application was removed from the table before discussion of ownership of the Private Driveway. (R. p. 798, line 25-p. 799, line 20). Oconee County Attorney David Root, Esq., informed BOZA that there was no question that the land under the Private Driveway belonged to private parties.

(R. p. 799, line 25-p. 800, line 2). According to Attorney Root, the question was whether Oconee County maintained the paved traveling surface of the Private Driveway such that it holds a prescriptive easement. (R. p. 800, lines 2-3; p. 802, lines 18-20). On this question, Attorney Root could offer no definitive answer in light of an affidavit he received—believed to have been provided by Jan Ratliff who has been an owner of 599 Ellenburg since 1981—that conflicted with information he had received from the roads and bridges department. (R. p. 800, lines 3-22).

Attorney Root informed BOZA that Oconee County, assuming it has a prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway, has no right to expand that easement (R. p. 802, lines 1-3). Attorney Root further informed BOZA that what Oconee County has done, or its level of maintenance on the Private Driveway over the previous twenty years, is what defines what Oconee County can do going forward. (R. p. 804, line 24-p. 805, line 6). BOZA postponed a vote on the Variance Application until a later time. (R. p. 814, line 24-p. 815, line 1).

#### **April 25, 2022 BOZA Meeting**

On April 25, 2022, the Variance Application was again on the BOZA agenda for a vote. Ridgewater and the developer, Lake Keowee Real Estate, were given another opportunity to present the variance request, and again asserted that Oconee County had a prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway. (R. p. 825, lines 15-17). The developer also asserted that the proposed roadway would give John's Marine *more room* to maneuver boats, such that it would not be detrimental to the adjacent property owners. (R. p. 827, line 20-p. 828, line 1). The Ratliff Family disputed this assertion. (R. p. 882, lines 9-23). During its presentation, the developer repeatedly asserted that the 50' right-of-way requirement did not exist at the time the owners purchased the property in 2008. (R. p. 824, lines 15-23; p. 826, lines 16-17; p. 829, lines 5-8). However, the Ratliff Family provided BOZA with ordinances reflecting that the 50' right-of-way requirement had been in place at least since 2006, before Globe and Farmes purchased the property. (R. p. 880,

line 10-p. 881, line 9, pp. 167-179). County staff, Mr. Reid, agreed that the 50' right-of-way requirement had been in place since 2006. (R. p. 902, lines 7-12).

After the developer's presentation, the BOZA asked county staff to present information on the existence of the prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway. As he had at the January 24, 2022 meeting, County Attorney Root addressed the BOZA, as did County Roads and Bridges employee Kyle Reid. The only additional information Mr. Root had gathered since the January 24, 2022 meeting was an affidavit from Lori Ellenburg Bright that further called into question Oconee County's asserted prescriptive easement along the Private Driveway. Mr. Root's and Mr. Reid's comments on the prescriptive easement were as follows:

MR. ROOT:

The -- I expressed the opinion on the Jan -- or during the January meeting, nothing has changed with that opinion which was to the effect that the county's corporate or institutional memory or knowledge is that it has a prescriptive easement to the edge of the pavement to the end of the pavement, abutting the -- the property that's to be developed. *I understand though at that time I had one affidavit from Jan Ratliff, I have another one now, I believe her name is Ms. -- yeah, Lori Ellenburg Bright, that calls that into question as -- as far as where that prescriptive easement ends, if it ends somewhere west of that. And that's all I have.* I -- I'm not a final arbiter or fact finder in that regard. I can't make a decision in -- just to make my role clear, I'm here to as best I can help with the integrity of the proceedings to make sure it goes smoothly. There's able counsel here for both sides and it would be, you know, just not right for me to advocate for any particular position. I'll answer any questions I can but as far as the facts on that prescriptive easement issue, that's what we have.

MR. CHAIRMAN:

So it's kind of unclear as to what --

MR. ROOT:

I -- I -- I would say --

MR. CHAIRMAN:

It's unclear.

MR. ROOT:

I wouldn't even use that moniker on it. I would say we've got the county maintains that it has the end of the pavement but I do understand that we have sworn statements provided by Mr. Ratliff's side we'll say that contradict that.

(R. p. 830, line 5-p. 831, line 13 (emphasis added)). Mr. Kyle Reid offered the following comments on his research into the issue of a prescriptive easement:

To our -- *to our institutional knowledge*, yes, sir, it -- it is a county road, all the way to the end as shown on -- on the plan.

...

And I can -- I can speak generally. Well, first, I've contacted the state and they don't have any record of Ellenburg Road that -- that shows that it was a state road. *Now all of the institutional knowledge again says that it was a state road.* As far as anything that where the state abandoned their maintenance responsibility and gave it to the county, again there is no record that shows that, the -- the state did not have any records as such and we don't have any records as such to that end. *So, it is institutional knowledge that has -- that has led us to that we own to that point of the road.*

(R. p. 835, lines 1-3, line 24-p. 836, line 10 (emphasis added)). The full extent of evidence Oconee County provided to the BOZA concerning whether Oconee County holds a prescriptive easement over the Private Driveway were verbal assertions of "institutional knowledge."

The BOZA again heard testimony from the Ratliff Family and their agents that the yellow centerline striping ends before the Private Driveway begins, the pavement quality changes at that point, the end of county maintenance sign had been located west of the Private Driveway for decades, and the Ratliffs have maintained the Private Driveway for forty years. (R. p. 844, lines 4-23). Appellant Jay Ratliff reiterated to the BOZA that the Ratliff Family had been using and maintaining the Private Driveway for forty years and provided pictures of John's Marine using the entirety of the Private Driveway to conduct its business. (R. p. 852, line 24-p. 853, line 20; p. 488).

Appellant Jay Ratliff is a licensed South Carolina professional engineer. (R. p. 851, lines 1-10). Mr. Ratliff prepared and provided the BOZA with scaled drawings based on Ridgewater's design. (R. p. 851, lines 3-5; pp. 487, 489-490; pp.146-148). These drawings called into question the measurements that form the basis for the Variance Application. Whereas Ridgewater and the developer claimed to own 31.9' of land available for the proposed roadway and only need an 18.1' variance, Mr. Ratliff explained that the Ridgewater's designs showed that it only owned 22.8' of land and in fact needed closer to a 27.2' variance. (R. p. 851, line 10-p. 852, line 23; Compare R. p. 478 (Variance Request Survey dated Aug. 26, 2021), with R. p. 477 (Site Plan dated Mar. 21, 2022)); see also site plans prepare by Ridgewater (R. pp. 205-206, 232-236, 477).

Mr. Ratliff's drawings depict a truck connected to a boat trailer for service, as they typically are at John's Marine, and based on the original design submitted by Ridgewater to the BOZA. (R. p. 489; p. 147). Under Ridgewater's original design, there is only 22.8' of land between the corner pin of the Ratliff Family's property and the 804 boundary, below which the developer cannot build. Mr. Ratliff explained that, prior to the Globe's and Farmes' backfill activities, which occurred on or about July 2021 (R. p. 682, lines 17-19), the original 804 boundary was only six feet from the end of the Ratliff Family property line. (R. pp. 147, 489). Even with the new backfill, under the original design provided by Ridgewater, the only way to achieve 31.9' to satisfy the Variance Application would be to fill-in an additional 9.1' of land owned by Duke on the lake side of the property below the 804 boundary. (R. p. 853, line 20-p. 854, line 19; R. pp. 147, 489).

Mr. Ratliff then pointed out that a second design was prepared by Goldie and Associates dated March 21, 2022, just before the April BOZA meeting. (R. pp. 477, 490; p. 148). Under this new design, the roadway shifted 9.1' onto the Ratliff Family's property to satisfy the 31.9' of land required for the proposed new public roadway without requiring fill below the 804 boundary. (R. p. 854, line 19-p. 855, line 13; pp. 148, 490). Such a shift would have a significant detrimental

impact on John's Marine by eliminating the area necessary to service boats, especially with the potential of 200 new cars a day driving past the business. (R. p. 855, lines 2-9, p. 856, lines 8-13, p. 858, lines 16-19; pp. 480-481).<sup>1</sup>

Prior to voting on the Variance Application, the BOZA observed that it was not competent to decide the prescriptive easement issue; however, it moved forward with a vote anyway based on its assumption that a prescriptive easement did in fact exist.

MR. CHAIRMAN:

Is anyone -- anyone not comfortable with that approach? Okay. Let's start out with the prescriptive easement. We've heard a lot of input on both sides, the county attorney, everyone else. What are your thoughts on the prescriptive easement?

MR. EAGAR:

I think -- I think from what we've heard so far that -- that does not bind us in any way in terms of whether, you know, and it -- from a decision standpoint we can go ahead with a decision that perceptively the easement doesn't impede us in any way from what I understood from Mr. Root, is that true?

MR. ROOT:

From my position, staying neutral, I believe you can craft an order that addresses the fact that the prescriptive easement may -- they may not express a direct opinion on the prescriptive easement but you address the variance of that pinch point, yes.

MR. EAGAR:

So I think that -- I think -- I think we should do that then and disregard the perceptively easement. This is a discussion?

MR. CHAIRMAN:

We are not competent to decide that issue.

MALE VOICE:

All right.

MR. CHAIRMAN:

We just don't -- we don't have the (inaudible).

MALE VOICE:

Right.

---

<sup>1</sup> County staff provided a preliminary estimate that nineteen homes could possibly result in an additional 200 cars a day past the Ratliff Family's property. (R. p. 898, line 2-p. 899, line 1).

MR. CHAIRMAN:

We don't have business in that so we're not gonna decide that but as -- as John's suggesting we ought to go ahead and -- and decide this as though there were an easement and -- and if someone wants to go to court to --

MALE VOICE:

Yup.

MALE VOICE:

Yeah.

...

(R. p. 907, line 1-p. 908, line 17).

The BOZA recognized that if the county does not have a prescriptive easement, a new public road could not be built as Ridgewater requested.

MR. CHAIRMAN:

Well, I guess let's decide if there's no prescriptive easement there the county is not doing business down there and there isn't gonna be a road built, doesn't matter who's gonna, you know, it all depends on that getting decided somewhere.

(R. p. 912, lines 14-19).

Concerning the impact to adjacent property owners, the BOZA determined that John's Marine would have more room after the new public road was constructed and the previous prescriptive easement area was abandoned, as well as better access to its business. (R. p. 922, line 17-p. 923, line 15; p. 925, line 19-p. 926, line 3; p. 947, lines 17-21; p. 950, lines 14-19). The BOZA made this determination without addressing the Ratliff Family's drawings showing that an additional 9.1' of their land would be required for placement of the new public right of way. (See R. pp. 145-148). Even though BOZA recognized that it was approving a variance application for a new public road without knowing exactly where the location of the new public right-of-way would be located, it moved ahead with a vote. (R. p. 960, line 20-p. 963, line 14).

Ultimately, the Variance Application was approved. (R. p. 968, lines 1-3).

### **Appeal of BOZA Decision**

The Variance Order was issued and mailed on May 11, 2022. (R. p. 635). The Ratliff Family had thirty days to appeal the Variance Order pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 6-29-820(A), and they filed the notice of appeal in circuit court on June 8, 2022. (Notice of Appeal (Jun. 8, 2022); see also R. p. 97).

The circuit court held a hearing on this matter on August 16, 2022. Thereafter, the circuit court denied the Ratliff Family's appeal by order dated September 15, 2022. The Ratliff Family moved to alter or amend the order denying relief on September 23, 2022, and the court denied their motion on November 21, 2022. The Ratliff Family filed their notice of appeal on December 20, 2022.

### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Edward (John) Ratliff and Francis (Jan) Ratliff purchased 599 Ellenburg in 1981 and co-located their home on the property along with John's Marine Service, which was moved to the property from downtown Seneca in 1982. (R. p. 248). At the time the Ratliffs purchased 599 Ellenburg in 1981, T.B. Ellenburg owned the adjacent property located at 585 Ellenburg. Descendants of T.B. Ellenburg owned 585 Ellenburg until 2020 when it was sold to Appellants James Ratliff and Lucretia Morgan. (R. p. 679, lines 14-18).

At some point before or around the mid-1980's, Oconee County paved a portion of Ellenburg Road from Knox Road to approximately the western edge of 585 Ellenburg, at which location Oconee County installed an "End of County Maintenance" sign. (R. p. 684, line 21-p. 686, line 12; R. pp. 252, 255-258, 482, 484). Oconee County did not pave all the way to the dead end of Ellenburg Road. (R. p. 684, line 21-p. 686, line 12).

In the mid-1980's, T.B. Ellenburg and John Ratliff, as fee owners of the private driveway running in front of 585 & 599 Ellenburg, undertook the expense of paving their respective portions

of the Private Driveway and for forty years have maintained the road as private property. (R. p. 684, line 21-p. 686, line 12; R. pp. 159-160 ¶¶ 3-8 (Jan Ratliff Affidavit (Jan. 7, 2022))<sup>2</sup>; R. p. 482). The Private Driveway dead ends at John’s Marine and it is paved on the Ratliff Family’s property (585 Ellenburg Road and 599 Ellenburg Road) and the adjacent landowners’ property, with the majority on the Ratliff Family’s property.

At some point, Oconee County undertook to stripe the center line of the public section of Ellenburg Road, stopping where the Private Driveway begins and never reaching 585 Ellenburg or 599 Ellenburg. (R. pp. 137-144, 252, 255-258, 480, 483). Significantly, Oconee County did not present any records of public maintenance of the Private Driveway during any of the three BOZA hearings in this matter.

In 2009, Jan Ratliff, who has been an owner of 599 Ellenburg since 1981, along with her daughter-in-law, met with employees of the Oconee County Roads and Bridges Department. (R. p. 159 ¶ 2). These employees provided Ms. Ratliff with a plat indicating that Oconee County’s maintenance of Ellenburg Road ended at green highlighted marker at 565 Ellenburg Road. (R. p. 159 ¶¶ 3-4; R. p. 482). According to Jan Ratliff, the green marker was where the “End of County Maintenance” sign had been located for years before it was moved by an unknown person. (R. p. 159 ¶ 6).<sup>3</sup> Also according to Jan Ratliff, her family has continuously maintained the paved portion of Ellenburg Road to the east of the endpoint of county maintenance, and Oconee County has not engaged in any maintenance of the Private Driveway. (R. p. 160 ¶ 8).

---

<sup>2</sup> While Ms. Ratliff’s affidavit does not appear to be included in the materials before the BOZA, County Attorney Root referenced it several times in relation to the existence of a prescriptive easement. (R. p. 800, lines 12-14; R. p. 830, lines 5-17). Accordingly, Appellants presented it to circuit court and include it here as part of the Record on Appeal.

<sup>3</sup> The sign was moved by an unknown person and temporarily placed at the end of Ellenburg Road; however, it is no longer there. (R. p. 663, lines 12-21; p. 733, lines 14-17; R. p. 845, lines 11-18).

Laurie Ellenburg Bright is the granddaughter of T.B. Ellenburg who sold part of his farmland for the creation of Lake Keowee. (R. p. 484). Ms. Bright grew up and resided at 591 Ellenburg Road for forty years. (R. p. 484). According to Ms. Bright's affidavit, after the creation of Lake Keowee, an "End of County Maintenance" sign was stationed between 575 Ellenburg and 585 Ellenburg Road. (R. p. 484 ¶ 6). Ms. Bright drove past this sign for years, and particularly recalled the location of the sign because it was located next to a bathtub that her grandfather used to water his cattle. (R. p. 484 ¶ 6). This information was provided to the BOZA.

No documents or testimony were provided to the BOZA contradicting the affidavits from Jan Ratliff and Laurie Ellenburg Bright.

John's Marine uses the entirety of the Private Driveway to conduct its business and has done so for forty years. (R. p. 852, lines 8-13; R. pp. 248-249, 480-481).

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

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