THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
South Carolina Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

\_\_\_\_\_  
APPEAL FROM BEAUFORT COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
\_\_\_\_\_

AUG 04 2025

SC Court of Appeals

\_\_\_\_\_  
2024-001984  
\_\_\_\_\_

MARE DECKARD.....Appellant(s),

vs.

TOWN OF PORT ROYAL ZONING BOARD OF  
APPEALS.....Respondent(s).

\_\_\_\_\_  
RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF  
\_\_\_\_\_

Ms. Mare Deckard  
1006 Madrid Ave.  
Port Royal, SC 29935  
[maremailmmm@yahoo.com](mailto:maremailmmm@yahoo.com)

Pro-Se Appellant

Thomas A. Bendle, Jr., Esquire  
Howell Gibson and Hughes PA  
Post Office Box 40  
Beaufort, SC 29901  
843-522-2400  
Bar No.: 7907

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

## Argument

The scope of this appeal is limited by statute to “determin[ing] only whether the decision of the [Zoning Board of Appeals] is correct as a matter of law.” S.C. Code § 6-29-840. Appellant has raised numerous arguments in her opening brief, some of which are ancillary to whether the Zoning Board of Appeals correctly interpreted and applied the law. The two issues that are directly within the scope of this appeal are her second and fourth arguments: namely, whether the ZBOA properly applied Division 5.5 and failed to apply Divisions 2.2 and 2.3 of the Town of Port Royal Development Code (“Development Code”) to the fence in question; and whether the ZBOA laid out sufficient grounds for its decision as required by South Carolina Code Section 6-29-800, subd. (F) (and similarly, whether the Circuit Court laid out sufficient grounds for its decision). Respondent's brief will focus predominantly on these two arguments, and will only briefly address the ancillary arguments at the very end of this Argument section.

### **I. The Zoning Board of Appeals correctly determined that the only relevant Section of the Town Code implicated in this dispute is Section 5.**

The question before the ZBOA was simply whether Ms. Witt's fence was permissible. The applicable section in the Development Code governing fences is Division 5.5, titled “Fences and Walls,” and the ZBOA unequivocally found that the fence here complied with the requirements of Division 5.5. [R. p. 1]. On appeal, Appellant does not seem to challenge that the fence at issue violates this section. Instead, Appellant has shifted the focus of the issue from the fence itself to the supposed effect that the fence has on the alleyway. She argues that certain sections of the Development Code governing alleyways cannot be simultaneously complied with as long as the fence on Ms. Witt's property exists.

Thus, instead of only looking at Division 5.5, Appellant alleged before the ZBOA that the fence at issue was governed by various subsections of Articles 1, 2, 4, and 5 of the Development Code. The ZBOA, in its order, specifically concluded that Division 5.5 governed this fence, and that the other sections referenced were not relevant. [R. p. 1 (emphasis added)].

On appeal, Respondent now highlights two subdivisions that she argues regulate her alleyway and require the removal of the fence: Divisions 2.2 and 2.3. In reality, however, Divisions 2.2 and 2.3 only apply to alleyways built in new or redeveloped subdivisions. Respondent's subdivision was built in 1995 and has not been redeveloped; it is thus outside the scope of Divisions 2.2 and 2.3.

- A. Division 2.2 explicitly does not apply to an alleyway built in 1995 and cannot be applied retroactively.

Division 2.2 does not apply to the alleyway in question because it applies only to new alleyways and cannot be enforced retroactively. Division 2.2 of the Port Royal Development Code contains "general standards for laying out blocks, lots, civic space set-asides, and thoroughfares." PRDC § 2.2.10. They are explicitly "for use in new developments, as well as the retrofit or infill of existing locations." *Id.* (emphasis added). Specifically, Subdivision 2.2.20, titled "Applicability," states that "[t]hese general layout standards apply to all development that is subject to Site Development Plan Review, described in Division 8.3 (Site Development Plan Review), or Subdivision Review, described in Division 8.4 (Subdivision Review), unless specifically exempted in a Subsection." PRDC § 2.2.20, subd.(A). Division 8.3 is applicable to "proposed

development” by a landowner<sup>1</sup>, and Division 8.4 is applicable to “new subdivisions.” PRDC §§ 8.3.10, 8.4.10. An alleyway that is thirty years old is neither part of “proposed development” nor a “new subdivision,” and thus it is not subject to the regulations of Division 2.2.

Additionally, Respondent would point out that Appellant cites to and quotes from an educational pop-out-box found at the end of Subdivision 2.2.80 titled “We Do This Because” to support her contention that fire trucks should be able to use alleyways. She does not cite directly to any of the regulations themselves. The contents of this box provide commentary on the regulations and information for the public, but they are not regulations themselves and cannot supersede the black letter of the law. However, regardless of whether the text in the pop-out-box is authoritative, it would still only apply to new alleyways and not retroactively to this alleyway.

B. Division 2.3 applies only to new thoroughfares and not the 1995 Alleyway.

Notably, in an argument not made before the Zoning Board of Appeals, Appellant claims that Division 2.3 regulates the alleyway in question. However, by its own text Division 2.3 applies only to “the transformation of existing thoroughfares and the creation of new thoroughfares.” PRDC § 2.3.20, subd. B. The 1995 Alleyway is certainly not new and it is not undergoing “transformation” in any sense of the word that is relevant to the Development Code. Again, the fence is on Ms. Witt’s property and not on the alleyway, and thus the construction of her fence does not affect the standards applicable to the alleyway.

---

<sup>1</sup> Notably, the addition of a fence on Ms. Witt’s property did not qualify as new development by a landowner under this section, as it was specifically exempted by Section 8.3.20(F). This, however, only answers whether Ms. Witt’s property was subject to Division 2.2; it is still irrelevant to the question of whether the *alleyway* is subject to Division 2.2.

Because Divisions 2.2 and 2.3 only govern new or redeveloped alleyways, they do not apply to the case at issue. This Court should affirm the circuit court and the Zoning Board of Appeals and hold that Division 5.5 – and not Divisions 2.2 or 2.3 – governs and allows Ms. Witt's fence.

**II. Both the Town of Port Royal Zoning Board of Appeals and the Circuit Court issued valid orders with sufficient basis.**

Appellant makes the argument that both the ZBOA and the Circuit Court should have provided more explicit grounds for their conclusions. Both orders, however, were fully justified by the rules and statutes governing them.

**A. The Zoning Board of Appeals made sufficient factual findings to support their conclusion.**

Appellant claims that the ZBOA did not sufficiently state grounds for its decision to affirm the permit for Ms. Witt's fence. The South Carolina Code section governing the Zoning Board of Appeals provides as follows: "All final decisions and orders of the board must be in writing and be permanently filed in the office of the board as a public record. All findings of fact and conclusions of law must be separately stated in final decisions or orders of the board..." S.C. Code §6-29-800, subd. (F). Appellant relies on this statutory subdivision for her contention that the ZBOA's order is deficient.

A review of the Order of the Zoning Board however shows that the order was in writing and separately stated all findings of fact and conclusions of law. Specifically, the Order made explicit conclusions of fact that: "(1) The fence is not encroaching upon the alley right-of-way," and "(2) The fence is in compliance with the requirements of the zoning ordinance." [R. p. 1]. The Order also made conclusions of law that "zoning ordinance section 5.5 is applicable in this case" and that "Sections 1.2.10, 1.3.40,

2.1.10, 2.2.70, 2.2.80, and 4.2.10 are not applicable in this case.” [R. p. 1 (grammatical alternatives removed from original text)]. The findings of fact and conclusions of law laid out in this Order satisfy the requirements of Section 6-29-800.

While acknowledging Section 6-29-800, Appellant in her argument seems to assert that because this particular ruling of the ZBOA was an extraordinary one that “amended the Town’s code” it requires even more than the usual justification required by the statute. She cites to no authority for that. Additionally, as discussed above, the ZBOA’s Order does not amend the Town’s Code. Divisions 2.2 and 2.3 still apply to all new development, as they have done since their enactment. Rather, the ZBOA in this case simply ruled on the compliance of a fence with the Zoning Ordinance that governs fences (Division 5.5). This case is not extraordinary, and it required no extraordinary or extra-statutory justification.

B. The Circuit Court properly and sufficiently issued a Form 4 Order.

This Court is well aware that judges in South Carolina may use a Form 4 Order to dispose of a case. The Notes to Rule 54 of the South Carolina Rules of Civil Procedure state that “the simple form of judgment as set out in the Appendix of Forms [that is, Form 4] is sufficient.” The use of such Form 4 Orders will “simplify entry, execution, enforcement and proof of judgment, and [the Form 4 Order] should state simply and directly the recovery or relief granted.” Note to S.C.R. Civ. P. 54. Notice that the Court is only required to state the recovery or relief granted, not its reasons for reaching its decision. The Circuit Court in this case stated in relevant part that “After careful consideration, the Respondent’s decision is affirmed. Therefore, this case is dismissed with prejudice.” [R. p. 3]. Because the Circuit Court sufficiently articulated its

judgment, the Court's order satisfies the requirements under the Rules and should be affirmed.

**III. The remaining issues raised by Appellant are beyond the scope of her appeal.**

Appellant makes two other arguments in her brief: one regarding the introduction of emails from the Fire Chief and/or Fire Marshall at the ZBOA hearing; and one regarding allegedly false statements by the Town Attorney during the hearing in front of the Circuit Court. Respondent does not concede the merits of either argument but does not address them in depth in this brief because both issues are beyond the scope of this appeal.

On appeal is the decision of the Zoning Board of Appeals regarding whether the fence in question may be placed on the owner's property abutting the alleyway. Nothing else is under review – not whether Appellant's FOIA requests were adequately handled, not whether it was appropriate for the Town to reach out to the Fire Chief, and not whether Appellant was entitled to production of emails in advance of the hearing. Likewise, the allegations regarding the Town Attorney's responses to the Circuit Court during the hearings, in which the attorney attempted to answer the Court's questions and offered to verify the information for the Court after the hearing, are beyond the scope of this appeal as the information was not before the ZBOA, and the Circuit Court is explicitly not allowed to take any additional evidence. See S.C. Code § 6-29-840.